
 

Agenda - Health, Social Care and Sport Committee 
Meeting Venue: 

Committee Room 2 - Senedd 

Meeting date: 23 January 2019 

Meeting time: 09.15

For further information contact: 

Claire Morris 

Committee Clerk 

0300 200 6355  

SeneddHealth@assembly.wales
------ 

Informal pre-meeting (09.15 - 09.30)  

 

1 Introductions, apologies, substitutions and declarations of 

interest 

(09.30)   

2 General scrutiny: Evidence session with Health Education and 

Improvement Wales and Social Care Wales 

(09.30 - 11.00) (Pages 1 - 14)  

Alex Howells, Chief Executive, Health Education and Improvement Wales 

Julie Rogers, Director of Workforce & Organisational Development/Deputy 

Chief Executive, Health Education and Improvement Wales 

Sue Evans, Chief Executive, Social Care Wales 

Sarah McCarty, Director of Improvement and Development, Social Care Wales 

 

Research Brief 

Paper 1 – Health Education and Improvement Wales and Social Care Wales 

3 Paper(s) to note 

   

3.1 Healthcare (International Arrangements) Bill: Letter from Minister for Health 

and Social Services to Minister of State for Health - 09 January 2019 

 (Pages 15 - 16)  

3.2 Welsh Government Draft Budget 2019-20: Welsh Government response 

 (Pages 17 - 33)  

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



4 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the 

public from the remainder of this meeting 

(11.00)   

5 General Scrutiny: Consideration of evidence 

(11.00 - 11.15)   



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon  
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee 
HSCS(5)-03-19 Papur 1 / Paper 1 
 

Joint briefing paper: Health, Social Care & Sport Committee 23rd January 2019 

Health Education and Improvement Wales (HEIW) and Social Care Wales (SCW) welcome 
the opportunity to meet with the committee and provide members with an overview of our 
work, particularly our joint work in relation to workforce development. 

1. About us 

Heath Education and Improvement Wales (HEIW) was established as a Special Health 
Authority on 1 October 2018, bringing together the Wales Deanery, the Wales Centre for 
Professional Pharmacy Education and the NHS Workforce and Education Development 
Service.  The background to the establishment of the new organisation is well documented 
through two independent reviews both supporting the need to establish a single body to 
develop an integrated and comprehensive approach to the planning and development of the 
health workforce, and to drive sustainable improvement.  Our vision is “Transforming the 
workforce for a healthier Wales”. Our functions are: 

 

Function Description 

Workforce 
Intelligence 

HEIW will be the central, recognised source for information and 
intelligence about the Welsh health workforce.  It will provide 
analytical insight and intelligence to support the development of 
the current and future shape of the workforce.  It will act as a 
central body to identify and analyse sources of intelligence from 
Wales, UK and abroad. 

Workforce Planning HEIW will provide strategic leadership for workforce planning, 
working with health boards/trusts and the Welsh Government to 
produce a forward strategy to transform the workforce to deliver 
new health and social models of service delivery.  In addition, 
through this process, HEIW will identify any new workforce models 
required within the NHS. 

Education 
Commissioning 

HEIW will utilise its funding to ensure value for money and the 
provision of a workforce which reflects future healthcare needs.  
This will include commissioning and contracting as well as design 
and delivery of education and training. 

Quality Management HEIW will quality manage education and training provision 
ensuring it meets required standards, and improvements are 
made where required.  This will include supporting teachers, 
trainers, trainees and working closely with regulators. 

Supporting 
Regulation 

HEIW will play a key role representing Wales in liaison with 
regulators, working within the policy framework established by 
the Welsh Government. HEIW will also undertake, independently 
of the Welsh Government, specific regulatory support roles. 

Leadership 
Development and 
Succession 
Planning 

HEIW will establish the strategic direction for the development 
and delivery of leadership development and succession planning 
for NHS Wales. 

Careers & widening 
access 

HEIW will provide the strategic direction for health careers and 
the widening access agenda, delivering an ongoing agenda to 
promote health careers. 

Pack Page 6



 
 

2 
 

Workforce 
Improvement 

HEIW will provide strategic and practical support for workforce 
transformation and improvement, including skills development, 
role design, CPD, and career pathway development. 

 

Some key facts about the new organisation: 
 

 We have an annual budget of over £200m, the majority of which is spent on 
education; 

 We have over 400 core members of staff; 

 We also work with over 1,800 medical and dental trainers and mentors, based in 
primary and secondary care; 

 At any one time we are working with NHS colleagues to support 3,000 training-
grade doctors and dentists across Wales; 

 At any one time we support over 9500 students/trainees via health professional 
education and training budget; 

 We offer over 50 different specialist medical training programmes; 

 We operate 12 district GP training schemes in Wales; 

 We promote over 350 different careers in NHS Wales; 
 
 

Social Care Wales (SCW) is a Welsh Government Sponsored Body established under the 
Regulation and Inspection of Social Care (Wales) Act 2016 to protect, promote and maintain 
the safety and well-being of the public in Wales. Launched in April 2017, Social Care Wales 
replaced the Care Council for Wales and incorporated the Social Services Improvement 
Agency.  
 
Our vision is for every person who needs support to live the life that matters to them. Our aims 
are to: 
 

 Provide public confidence in the social care workforce; 

 Lead and support improvement in social care; and 

 Develop the early years and social care workforce. 

Our purpose is to build confidence in the workforce, and lead and support improvement in 

social care. We: 

 Set standards for the care and support workforce, making them accountable for their 

work; 

 Develop the workforce so they have the knowledge and skills to protect, empower and 

support those who need help; 

 Work with others to improve services for areas agreed as a national priority; 

 Set priorities for research to collect evidence of what works well; 

 Share good practice with the workforce so they can provide the best response; and 

 Provide information on care and support for the public, the workforce and other 

organisations. 

 

 

Pack Page 7



 
 

3 
 

2. Developing a strategy for the development of a sustainable health and care 

workforce for the future 

‘A Healthier Wales’ set out the commission for HEIW and SCW to develop a workforce strategy 

for the health and social care system by the end of 2019. The strategy is                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             

essential to ensure the ambitions to transform service models set out in ‘A Healthier Wales’ 

can be delivered successfully. 

The workforce strategy will deliver the ambition of ‘A Healthier Wales’ for a seamless social 

care and health system. It will build on a number of the principles that are embedded in 

‘Prosperity for All’ and ‘A Healthier Wales’ including: 

 The workforce of the future will be defined by new models of integrated health and 

social care, which are based upon evidence of good practice and sustainability, to 

deliver better health and well-being;   

 To be effective in planning the future workforce, a clear understanding of the current 

workforce is required including challenges of maintaining and sustaining current 

service supply with an understanding of the required changes in skills mix to support 

new models of delivery;  

 Needs will be met based upon who is best placed to provide the care not solely directly 

employed or contracted staff.  This will include workers who are employed outside of 

statutory health and social care organisations e.g. housing associations, independent 

and voluntary sector;  

 The role of unpaid carers will be better supported, to ensure they have the knowledge 

and skills to continue caring and that their own well-being needs are considered;  

 There will be parity of esteem between all health and care professionals, who have 

similar levels of responsibility and accountability;    

 The health and well-being of staff will be designed into workforce and service models, 

including support to better manage demand through service re-design;  

 Education, training and development must evolve and diversify to support a multi 

professional approach, an increased focus on prevention, early intervention and the 

delivery of care across settings from home, primary and community through to hospital 

and specialist provision;   

 Changing expectations of work and careers must drive increased flexibility in work 

patterns, education, training, career pathways and workforce models to improve 

recruitment and retention.  This will maximise opportunities arising from part time 

learning and working, digital technology and accelerating digital change, and new ways 

of delivering treatment, care and support;   

 Increased flexibility will require an understanding of how the workforce is currently 

deployed and measures that can be taken to strengthen deployment approaches 

which maximises the mobility and flexibility of the workforce in meeting shifting service 

demands;  

 Prudent principles will be used to ensure that staff are supported to work at the top of 

their competence and to drive the expansion of generalist skills; and 

 A whole system collaborative approach will be taken to aligning workforce planning, 

recruitment and career pathways across health and social care to avoid competition 

and de-stabilisation.  

The strategy will include planning for new workforce models, strengthening prevention, well-

being, generalist and Welsh language skills, developing strategic education and training 

partnerships, supporting career long development and diversification across the wider 

workforce. It will reach across to other activity such as national recruitment campaigns 

Pack Page 8



 
 

4 
 

including for social care “ the national attraction, retention and recruitment campaign which 

will promote a positive view of social care as a valued and rewarding place to work”, referenced 

in the Welsh Government’s ‘Prosperity for All: Employability Plan 2018’ (see Appendix B for 

further information). 

The development of the strategy will take a six-stage approach, encompassing:  

 Mobilisation and preliminary analysis of the workforce;  

 Key challenges and horizon scanning;  

 Engagement with a wide range of agencies and representative bodies;  

 The publication of a completed analysis report;  

 The development of a draft strategy;  

 Formal consultation with a broad range of stakeholders; and 

 Publication of a final strategy, before the end of 2019.  

 

The published strategy will provide a clear ten-year strategic intent and act as a framework 

and primary reference point for workforce plans and actions for Regional Partnership Boards, 

professional groups, services, care settings, the whole paid and unpaid workforce and Unions. 

The strategy will be complemented by a set of implementation plans to deliver the actions. 

One of the key challenges for the development of the strategy is the pace and extent of change 

anticipated over the next 5–10 years. For example, the increasing role of digital and other 

technologies, the impact of Brexit, the changing needs of the population and the changing 

expectations of our current and future staff. Therefore, it is essential the strategy builds in as 

much flexibility as possible to ensure health and social care is better able to adapt and respond 

to these changes, rather than try to develop detailed plans for what is not fully predictable. 

Given this, and the potential breadth of the strategy, the intention is to develop a clear direction 

and framework to drive, inform and underpin all subsequent workforce plans and models.  This 

recognises that in the complex system of health and social care plans about the workforce 

may need to take various forms. For example, focusing on specific professional or 

occupational groups, individual health or social care services, settings of care or geographical 

areas.   

The intention is also to ensure in future years the workforce strategy drives and aligns other 

key activities including: 

 Workforce intelligence and information; 

 Education planning and commissioning; 

 Leadership development; 

 Continuous professional development;  

 Workforce development and modernisation; and 

 Recruitment, widening access and careers management.  

This will help ensure we have a sustainable approach to the future development of the 

health and care workforce. 

In respect of process, a small steering group has been established which is jointly chaired by 

the two organisations to oversee the development of the strategy. However, the shaping of 

the content and priorities within the strategy will be undertaken through an engagement phase 

during the spring involving a wide range of stakeholders and partners. There will also be a 

formal consultation exercise during the summer and further engagement across Wales during 

2019 to ensure local and regional needs inform the national priorities. 

Pack Page 9



 
 

5 
 

3. HEIW and SCW’s strategic priorities 

See appendices 1 and 2. 

 

4. How HEIW and SCW will work together (and with other relevant partners) to ensure 

a holistic approach to workforce planning and development 

As previously mentioned, a collaborative approach has already been developed between the 

two organisations through the jointly chaired Workforce Strategy steering group. This 

approach will also be used to develop the leadership strategy for health and social care, which 

is another joint commission from ‘A  Healthier Wales’.  Other collaborative projects are already 

underway including the Joint Health and Social Care Induction Framework which is being 

piloted in the Hywel Dda University Health Board area.  Joint Executive Team and Joint Board 

meetings have been planned for the near future to build on these early foundations and 

explore other opportunities for joint work.  

Both organisations need to work with a complex range of stakeholders and partners to deliver 

on its ambitions – including other NHS organisations, local government, professional bodies, 

regulators, education providers, the independent and third sectors, Welsh Government, and 

our counterparts across the UK.   

As noted earlier, the successful implementation of the future workforce strategy will depend 

upon integration and alignment of all aspects of workforce planning and development and so 

extensive and continuous engagement is vital. As relatively small organisations, we also 

recognise the need to secure and utilise the expertise and knowledge that exists across the 

whole system.   

As an example, HEIW has established a robust platform for this through its stakeholder 

engagement work over the last 12 months, including a variety of workshops and introductory 

meetings, which continue to be a priority for the Board. Equally it is also important to note that 

some stakeholders operate at a UK rather than a Wales level, so extending our influence and 

voice is a key focus, supported by the early development of strong links with colleagues in 

NHS Education Scotland, Scottish Social Services Council, Health Education England, 

Northern Ireland Social Care Council, Skills for Care and Social Work England for example. 

 

 

Health Education & Improvement Wales and Social Care Wales 

January 2019  

Pack Page 10



 
 

6 
 

 

Appendix A  

Health Education and Improvement Wales (HEIW)  

Strategic Priorities - short to medium term  

HEIW has inherited plans for 2018/19 from its predecessor organisations (Wales Deanery, 

Wales Centre for Professional Pharmacy Education and the Workforce and Education 

Development Service) and has also been given a remit letter from Welsh Government which 

has highlighted some additional priorities in year.   

Looking ahead, HEIW has established 7 Strategic Objectives to guide priorities and areas of 

focus during the first three years (2018-21) of its existence through various stakeholder events 

held over the last 12 months and by reviewing the work of similar organisations across the 

UK. These Strategic Objectives have been endorsed in our remit letter and are outlined below: 

 

For 2019/20 HEIW has been asked by Welsh Government to develop an annual plan by the 

end of January, and are currently progressing this within the above framework and through 

discussion with other NHS bodies who are also in the process of developing their plans.  

Clearly in the first full year of operating we need to balance the continued attention that is 

required to develop a new and fully integrated organisation, with our ambitions to deliver on 

the many opportunities that exist for us to support the workforce agenda in health and social 

Pack Page 11



 
 

7 
 

care.   However, subject to agreement and resources, some of the key areas of focus for us 

in 2019/20 could include: 

 Delivering tangible support for NHS Wales service challenges – including urgent and 

emergency care, cancer and diagnostics, eye care, and development of the multi 

professional team in primary care.   

 Working with Social Care Wales, developing the workforce strategy and aligned to that 

a clear leadership strategy for health and social care.   

 Re procurement of health professional under graduate education in time for 2020/21 

which will give us the opportunity to shape and influence the delivery of education and 

align it with A Healthier Wales.  

 Development of Specialist and Associate (SAS) grade doctors to provide more support 

and opportunities to this essential part of the workforce. 

 Coordinating international recruitment efforts particularly in the light of Brexit. 

 Pursuing options to increase GP training places in Wales. 

 

Health Education and Improvement Wales  

Pack Page 12



 
 

8 
 

Appendix B – Social Care Wales 

Context and related areas of work 

SCW’s Strategic Plan 2017-22 states that developing the workforce is a priority for the 

organisation. The purpose of SCW is to build confidence in the workforce and to lead and 

support improvement in social care. We want Wales to have a sufficient, high-quality and 

skilled social care and early years workforce. Our focus is on attracting more of the right people 

into the social care, early years and childcare sectors by using evidence of good practice to 

set standards for the workforce. 

SCW is working with HEIW, the Welsh Government and other key partners to develop a 

motivated, sustainable, robust and highly skilled workforce that is able to respond to the 

challenges of today and tomorrow, and complements work underway at local authority and 

regional levels. A key part of the national transformation programme is to build, support and 

sustain the health and social care workforce by improving well-being, capability, engagement, 

and leadership, and investing in the future skills we need within the workforce.  

Looking ahead, strategic priorities for SCW include:  

 Ensuring the availability of high-quality training to equip and support the workforce so 

they have the right knowledge, skills, understanding and approach to provide good 

quality care and support in the social care and early years sectors.  

 Making sure the workforce is supported and provides social care in line with the law 

and their practice reflects the principles of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) 

Act 2014: voice and control; prevention and early intervention; well-being; and co-

production.  

 Taking a leadership role, alongside the Welsh Government, in supporting the 

development and implementation of the long-term workforce plan for childcare, play 

and early years is another key priority for us. 

 Supporting the progress of registering the domiciliary care workforce, the voluntary 

registration of care home workers from 2020, before it becomes mandatory in 2022 

and rolling out the joint induction framework to all new workers in health and social 

care. 

 Following a review, ensuring the Social Care Wales Workforce Development 

Programme grant funding has a stronger focus on local and regional priorities as well 

as national priorities, and more outcome-focussed reporting. 

 Launching a major campaign in March 2019 aimed at attracting more people to work 

in social care and early years and childcare roles and build capacity and capability 

across the sector. This long-term national attraction, retention and recruitment 

campaign will aim to complement and enhance existing and planned regional 

recruitment campaigns.  

 In partnership with the Welsh Government and Qualifications Wales, we are 

introducing a new suite of childcare qualifications across levels 2-5 by September 

2019. These new qualifications will play a key role in supporting the sector to train and 

Pack Page 13



 
 

9 
 

upskill, providing clearer career pathways and transferability of skills and knowledge 

between the health, childcare and education sectors.  

 Working in partnership, including with Health and Care Research Wales to implement 

our Social care research and development strategy for Wales 2018-23. As the 

document states, central to the success of this strategy will be the development of a 

skilled research workforce, with expertise in all relevant academic disciplines. This 

focus area has seven objectives including the need to develop a skilled research 

workforce of national and international standing that can undertake high quality 

research.  

 Continuing to work with key partners and monitor closely developments of relevance 

to the social care sector in Wales arising from Brexit. 

 

Social Care Wales 

Pack Page 14



Vaughan Gething AC/AM 
Y Gweinidog Iechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol 
Minister for Health and Social Services 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre: 

0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Vaughan.Gething@llyw.cymru 
Correspondence.Vaughan.Gething@gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 

gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 

in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Ein cyf/Our ref: MA - L/VG/0709/18 

Stephen Hammond MP 
Minister of State for Health 
Department of Health and Social Care 

39 Victoria Street 
London 
SW1H 0EU 

9 January 2019 

Dear Stephen, 

HEALTHCARE (INTERNATIONAL ARRANGEMENTS) BILL 

I am writing in response to Lord O’Shaughnessy’s correspondence of 19 December in 
relation to the Healthcare (International Arrangements) Bill. 

This letter seemed to misconstrue my current position with regard to recommending consent 
to the Bill.  We are not at that stage yet and none of my previous letters or telephone 
conversations indicated this, nor has any such indication been given at official level.   

In my letter of 4 December I stated that I would be content to recommend consent on the 
basis that the Bill is amended to include a duty to consult the Welsh Ministers where 
regulations under Clause 2 relate to devolved matters and that the memorandum provides 
satisfactory assurance on the process and nature of consultation. 

I am pleased to note in the letter the UK Government’s willingness to amend the Bill.  With 
regard to the memorandum, this has not progressed at the pace I expected. At present my 
officials are awaiting a response on this from your officials.   

The letter refers to the MoU between the UK and the Devolved Administrations concerning 
international agreements.  I see no reason why the on-going discussion in that context 
should prevent the preparation of the MoU in relation to this Bill.  That certainly has not 
been the case with other parts of UK Government, the MoU in relation to the Agriculture Bill 
is a specific example.  

Once I have seen the terms of the MOU as proposed in my letter and the commitment to 
amending the Bill, I hope that will enable me to be able to recommend consent.  

Lord O’Shaughnessy’s letter also raised ongoing issues concerning funding.  Whilst I note 
and welcome the commitment to no additional financial burdens being placed on Devolved 
Administrations in relation to UK schemes, I have concerns about the expectation that 
Devolved Administrations will be expected to bear the costs of healthcare provision 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee 
HSCS(5)-03-19 Papur 2 / Paper 2

Pack Page 15

Agenda Item 3.1

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Vaughan.Gething@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Vaughan.Gething@gov.wales


provided to foreign nationals.  This relates directly to my previous point about Welsh 
Government being consulted on and involved in the negotiation of the healthcare 
agreements and not just at the point of the regulations that implement them.  It is unrealistic 
to expect that the Welsh NHS will bear the cost of healthcare provision resulting from a 
healthcare agreement that the Welsh Ministers have not been involved in and do not agree 
with.  The MOU needs to set out a clear process for avoiding this situation.  
  
I am copying this letter to the First Minister of Wales, the Secretary of State for Wales and 
the Chancellor of the Duchy of Lancaster and Minister for the Cabinet Office. I am also 
copying it to the Scottish Government’s Cabinet Secretary for Health and Sport and Cabinet 
Secretary for Government Business and Constitutional Relations, and to the Permanent 
Secretary at the Department of Health in Northern Ireland and Head of the Northern Ireland 
Civil Service.  
 
Yours sincerely,  

 
Vaughan Gething AC/AM 
Y Gweinidog Iechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol  
Minister for Health and Social Services 

Pack Page 16



1 

Written Response by the Minister for Health and Social Services and the 
Deputy Minister for Culture, Sport and Tourism to the report of the 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee entitled Welsh Government 
Draft Budget 2019-20 

The Welsh Government welcomes the Committee’s report on the Health and 
Social Services draft budget plans for 2019-20.    

Our detailed responses to their views are set out below: 

View 31:  Transformation Fund for Pathfinder Projects  
The Committee would like assurance that the use and impact of this Fund will 
be effectively monitored, particularly in terms of it being used to support 
projects which are genuinely transformative and scale able, and that mental 
health is given parity with physical health when considering bids. We would 
welcome further detail from the Welsh Government about the governance 
arrangements for the Fund.  

Welsh Government Response 

Monitoring and evaluation 
The Transformation Fund guidance requires proposals to show how each 
project will be professionally evaluated in a timely fashion, to provide evidence 
which will inform decisions relating to wider adoption, considering particularly 
health and social care outcomes improvement, enhanced healthcare value, 
and affordable service delivery. 

Quarterly monitoring reports will be prepared by proposal leads and assessed 
by the Transformation Programme Team against the criteria set out in a grant 
offer letter, and against the objectives in the original proposal.  Payments will 
be made in line with Welsh Government finance and grants guidance. 

The Transformation Programme also has a specific evaluation work-stream 
which will consider the Transformation Fund proposals in the context of wider 
transformation, as described in A Healthier Wales.  The Programme team will 
work with stakeholders across the health and social care system in Wales to 
establish a suite of system measures and indicators, which will support 
evaluation of the Transformation Fund and the impact of the Programme 
overall. 

An early review of approved proposals has been commissioned and is 
expected to report first findings in January / February 2019.  This will 
comment on the allocation of the Transformation Fund against criteria 
including regional cover (by Regional Planning Board area) and fit against key 
policy areas and service delivery priorities (such as mental health, children 
and young people, older people, disability, carers).  The early review will be 
considered by the Transformation Programme Advisory Board in early 2019 
so that delivery of the Fund can be revised if that is required. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-03-19 Papur 3 / Paper 3 

Pack Page 17

Agenda Item 3.2



 2 

 
Transformative, scalable proposals 

It is too early to evaluate the transformative impact this early in the 
programme.  However, to be supported by the appraisal panel, proposals are 
required to provide convincing information to show that they comply with the 
ten design principles set out in A Healthier Wales and in particular the last two 
principles, which means supported proposals are: 
 

 Scalable – ensuring that good practice scales up from local to regional 
and national level, and out to other teams and organisations.  

 Transformative – ensuring that new ways of working are affordable and 
sustainable, that they change and replace existing approaches, rather 
than add an extra permanent service layer to what we do now.  

 
Proposals will need to show how their new model will be sustainable after the 
transformation project is completed.  This will be considered when appraising 
proposals, during monitoring, and when evaluating. 
 
Parity of mental health and physical health 
A Healthier Wales states that “We see a key role for Regional Partnership 
Boards (RPBs) in driving the development at local level of models of health 
and social care, including primary and secondary care. Local cluster needs 
assessment and service plans should feed into regional assessments and 
Area Plans developed by RPBs. Early models of care may focus on the 
priority groups identified by the Review (i.e. the Welsh language, older people, 
children, people with mental ill health and people with disabilities) […]”   
 
Proposals will be appraised against the design principles set out in A Healthier 
Wales, and several already approved proposals focus on mental health.   
 
Proposals must be endorsed by one or more Regional Planning Boards who 
will consider them in light of regional population needs assessments and area 
plans, in line with current legislation and Welsh Government policies which 
reinforce the parity of mental and physical health. The Social Services and 
Well-being (Wales) Act requires local authorities and health boards to carry 
out an assessment of population needs, highlighting the care and support 
needs in an area, and setting out the range and level of services required to 
meet those needs.  Area Plans developed by Regional Partnership Boards set 
out how local authorities and health boards will meet the needs identified in 
the population assessments. 
 
Governance arrangements 

The Transformation Fund is managed by the Transformation Programme 
Team, which includes a Head of Programme and a Transformation Fund 
Manager, overseen by the Director for Technology and Transformation, 
reporting to the Director General for Health and Social Services.  Proposals 
must be supported by one or more Regional Planning Boards before being 
submitted for formal appraisal.  Proposals are assessed against the published 
Transformation Fund guidance by an appraisal panel consisting of senior 
Welsh Government officials and sector representatives from the 

Pack Page 18



 3 

Transformation Programme Advisory Board.  The Panel makes 
recommendations to the Cabinet Secretary for Health and Social Services.   
 
Approved proposals are funded through a grant offer letter mechanism, which 
provides for active management throughout the lifespan of the project, 
including quarterly reporting and monitoring arrangements.  The 
Transformation Programme will also arrange regular network learning events 
for all proposal leads, and other support activities designed to encourage 
rapid learning and scaling of proposals between regions. 
 
Transformation Fund guidance 
This has been published here: 
https://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/181113t-fund-guidanceen.pdf 
 
View 33: Funding for Primary Care  
We note the Director of Finance’s comments that the Welsh Government 
doesn’t recognise the figure of a 5% decrease to primary care funding. We are 
aware that this figure, which has also been reported by the Wales Audit 
Office, is based on analysis of health boards’ annual accounts. It’s also the 
case that health boards’ written evidence to the Committee shows that the 
proportion of their spending which goes on primary care has remained broadly 
consistent over the last few years. This gives us serious cause for concern. 
Given the policy focus on shifting care out of hospitals, we would have 
expected to see a significant increase in the level of spend on primary care, 
but the evidence we have seen shows that this is not happening. We believe 
this illustrates the challenges facing health boards in achieving service 
transformation, given the ongoing pressures they face in the acute sector for 
example. Given that the direction of travel for services as set out in A 
Healthier Wales is toward delivery of services to be undertaken in primary and 
community healthcare, we are very concerned that the proposed funding for 
primary care will not be sufficient to support this objective  
 
Welsh Government Response 

With regard to revenue spend you have already asked for the amount of 
funding going to primary care in each of the last three years.  The following 
response was provided:   
2015-16 - £1.365m  
2016-17 - £1.374m  
2017-18 £1.436m, which in each year represents 21% of the total health 
budget. 
 
In 2018-19 we would expect the investment to increase by approximately 
£27.7m to reflect the agreed DDRB increase for GPs and dentists and in 
2019-20, subject to IMTPs, we will expect further investments in primary care 
in addition to the agreed DDRB increase. 
 
 
 
View 48: National Health Service Finance (Wales) Act 2014  

Pack Page 19

https://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/181113t-fund-guidanceen.pdf


 4 

We note the ambitions and requirements of the National Health Service 
Finance (Wales) Act 2014 have not been fully realised by all NHS bodies, but 
that progress has been made by particular health boards. However, we are 
disappointed by the continuing inability of a number of health boards to 
manage their finances. We seek further information from the Cabinet 
Secretary about the reasons behind the enduring difficulties in some health 
boards, and what assessment has been made of the factors contributing to 
their ongoing inability to maintain financial discipline. We believe it is of crucial 

importance to understand the extent to which this may be due to management 
issues at individual health board level, or how much it may be due to: for 
example, their funding allocations  
 

Welsh Government Response 

As we explained to the Public Accounts Committee, the 2017-18 financial year 
saw a stabilisation in the financial deficit position of the four health boards in 
escalation with an outturn broadly similar to 2016-17. We are confident that 
the reported outturn for 2018-19 will show a material improvement in the 
overall outturn, when compared on a like-for-like basis with 2017-18.  
In context, NHS organisations have collectively made over £1.5 billion worth 
of efficiency savings since the new organisations were established at the 
beginning of this decade. In the last financial year, over two thirds of these 
savings (71%) were found on a recurrent basis.  
 
In particular the issues of leadership and financial governance, which were the 
main factors generating the deficits in Cardiff and Vale and Abertawe Bro 
Morgannwg University Health Boards, have now been addressed, and both 
Boards are expected to report a significant improvement in their outturn 
compared to 2017-18. We are due to receive 2019-20 financial plans early in 
the New Year, and we are optimistic at this stage that both organisations are 
on a trajectory to return to financial balance within the next three year period. 
 
The deficits in Betsi Cadwaladr and Hywel Dda University Health Boards are 
more intractable, and unlikely to be resolved in the medium term. We are 
confident that their relative funding positions are not factors contributing to 
their deficits. The zero-based review of Hywel Dda identified the costs outside 
the Board’s control relating to demography and scale, and these have now 
been covered by the additional allocation of £27 million. The review 
highlighted the efficiency opportunities which are for the Board to pursue. The 
additional funding, allocated following the Zero Based Review, and the service 
change programme, through delivery of the Transforming Clinical Services 
programme, should allow Hywel Dda, over the medium to longer term, to plan 
and deliver clinically and financially sustainable services for its resident 
population.  We will expect to see continued improvement in their level of 
deficit next financial year, but it is unlikely they are yet in a position to present 
a balanced medium term plan for some time.  
 
Betsi Cadwaladr UHB has a higher allocation per head of population than the 
Welsh average, while its relative health needs are considered to be lower 
when assessed using the current allocation formula, so it is unlikely that their 
relative funding position is contributing to their deficit. This relative funding 

Pack Page 20



 5 

position, compared to current allocation formula, has been consistent since 
the current allocation formula was implemented in 2003. The Minister for 
Health and Social Services has kept the Assembly updated regularly on their 
special measures status, and it remains a frustration that the organisation has 
been unable to deliver improvements in their financial position to date. The 
Health Board will need to develop and implement a sustainable clinical, 
service and financial plan.  While the health board is currently not in a position 
to present a sustainable clinical and service strategy, it is unlikely to be in a 
position develop and deliver a balanced medium term plan for some time. The 
new Chair is now taking an active role in improving strategy, planning and 
financial grip within the organisation, and we hope to see this being translated 
into some material progress on strategy and plans and a reducing deficit in 
next financial year.   
 
Mental Health  
View 62: We welcome the additional funding provided in this draft budget for 

mental health services. However, we remain alert to the current inconsistency 
of provision and the growing demands, and urge the Cabinet Secretary to 
ensure adequate resources are available for mental health services in future 
budget rounds.  
View 64: We would wish to see more detail about what exact information will 
be captured by the mental health core data set, the timescales for the data set 
to be fully developed, and how will this improve service planning, 
measurement of outcomes, and tracking the impact of spend on mental health 
services.  
View 65: We asked health boards about the extent to which allocated mental 

health funding is being used to support other services, for example where 
patients have a primary diagnosis of a mental health condition but require 
treatment for other health conditions. Their responses did not provide the 
clarity we were seeking, and we remain concerned about whether funding 
arrangements, including the mental health ring-fence, are striking the right 
balance between taking a holistic approach to meeting an individual’s needs, 
and ensuring resources for mental health are protected. We would welcome 
the Welsh Government’s response on this point.  
 
Welsh Government Response 
We spend more on mental health services than on any other part of the Welsh 
NHS and we have ring-fenced the mental health spending within the budget. 
The ring-fenced allocation for 2019-20 is £679 million, an increase of £92 
million since 2016-17. As part of the Integrated Medium Term Plan (IMTPs) 
process we have made clear our expectations to health boards to:  

 Demonstrate an understanding of the mental health and mental well-
being needs of their population.  

 Undertake a capacity and demand analysis which also demonstrates 
how the health board is actioning the areas for improvement. 

 Define service models to meet population needs which are supported 
by workforce plans. 

 Show expenditure over the previous year against the mental health 
ring-fenced allocation and the future spending plans against that 
budget. 

Pack Page 21



 6 

 
As these planning processes mature we expect this approach to become 
more robust and through our 2016-19 delivery plan we also made it a clear 
action for health Boards to demonstrate their adherence to their ring fenced 
mental health allocations and to set out how their expenditure is improving 
outcomes for people with mental health problems. We recognise that there is 
more work to do in this area and we continue to work with health boards to 
improve on this reporting.  
 
The Mental Health Core Dataset (MHCDS) will capture person-level data from 
information entered by clinicians at point of assessment, care and treatment 
planning, and review.  These data items have been signed off by a multi-
agency national project steering board and are currently being taken through 
the Welsh Information Standards Board (WISB) to ensure that they are 
collected in a consistent way. This work is currently phased but is due to 
conclude by the end of 2019.  This dataset will be captured within the Welsh 
Community Care Informatics System (WCCIS), which is a technology platform 
for both health and social care.   
 
As part of this there is also a work stream looking at reporting requirements. 
This will include current Welsh Government targets such as referral to 
treatment times under the Mental Health Measure, but also how we capture 
outcomes. We are working closely with the peer group; areas currently live on 
WCCIS and NWIS to enable this work to progress. 
 
In line with the wider WCCIS programme, the system is anticipated to be fully 
operational by 2022. From a mental health perspective we have employed 
staff to support work directly with teams across Wales throughout 2019, to 
pilot forms and data collection using existing IT systems, in preparation for the 
WCCIS.  This includes work to inform outcome focused practice, capture 
service user experience, improve the consistency in using outcome measures 
and to measure progress in recovery.  This work will look to extend across all 
teams in 2020-2021. 
 
Health Workforce  
View 83: We note the health boards’ assurances that they are making efforts 

to tackle their workforce issues and remain concerned about the slow 
progress being made in this area. 
View 84: We expect that the work being undertaken by Health Education and 
Improvement Wales and Social Care Wales on workforce planning has the 
impact that is intended. We look forward to receiving an update from the 
Welsh Government on the development of the long-term workforce strategy.  
 
Welsh Government Response 

We have asked Health Education Improvement Wales  and Social Care 
Wales to work together to develop a workforce strategy for the health and 
care sector and to provide a draft for government to consider by November 
2019.  The two organisations have already started working together to 
develop the plan and engage a wide range of stakeholders in the process. We 
will provide an update to the Committee as their work develops.  

Pack Page 22



 7 

 
View 85: We recognise the clear disparity between healthcare and social care 

sector workers, as has been raised regularly to us by stakeholders. We 
believe this is a significant barrier to successful service integration. We note 
the actions taken by the Welsh Government to begin to address issues of 
parity of esteem and acknowledge this is a long-term challenge given the 
difficult historical problems with the social care sector compared to health. 
However, we wish to receive more detail from the Welsh Government on the 
financial implications of addressing this disparity, and the long-term budgetary 
planning that may be required to support this change.  
 
Welsh Government Response 

Both delivery of existing and development of new models for delivery of 
seamless health and social care may need to address differences a range of 
workforce issues to enable effective operational delivery.  As these integrated 
delivery models are developing and their effectiveness for wide scale adoption 
are being evaluated, we will need to consider at local, regional and national 
level whether the workforce issues act as barriers to integration and what 
action is required to ensure that any barriers can be overcome.  This work 
alongside the development of an integrated Health and Social Care Workforce 
Strategy will enable us to better identify what needs to be done and the 
potential costs and opportunities provided by implementation of any changes’. 
 
View 86: We note the comments made by the Director General for Health and 

Social Services/NHS Wales Chief Executive around deploying a national 
focus in relation to addressing staff sickness in the NHS workforce. We would 
wish to receive more information on what plans are being put in place to 
address this issue.  
 
Welsh Government Response 

As part of the 3 year pay deal agreed for Agenda for Change staff by the 
Welsh Partnership Forum (WPF) we also agreed to a more focussed national 
approach to the management of sickness absence.  The WPF issued a new 
absence management policy and has developed some training which will be 
rolled out across Wales delivered and attended jointly by unions and 
employers.  In addition, they have agreed to consider the ways that NHS staff 
can have rapid access to support them if they experience mental health or 
musculo skeletal issues (two of the main causes of absence) to ensure that 
staff can remain in work or return to work as quickly as possible.  The WPF 
have agreed to monitor the impact of these new approaches and to work 
together to tackle any issues that emerge as part of the monitoring in 
partnership with the aim of reducing absence rates.  
 
Social Care 
View 100: While we welcome the additional money being provided for social 
services in this draft budget, and the proposed additional funding for local 
authorities announced in the Welsh Government’s statement on 20 November 
2019, we have serious concerns over the level of funding for social care 
services generally, including that the current level of funding is insufficient to 
meet demand, and that this situation will worsen with continuing cuts to local 

Pack Page 23



 8 

government budgets coupled with our ageing population and an increase in 
chronic conditions.  
Given 101: Given that the direction of travel for services, as set out in A 
Healthier Wales, is towards far greater integration and to enable more people 
to be cared for as close to home as possible, we believe that funding for social 
care cannot be seen in isolation from health funding. We believe that, as a 
matter of necessity, a more holistic approach to health and social care 
funding, including the holding of joint budgets should be explored.  
 
Welsh Government Response 

Social care is one of our six priorities set out in Prosperity for All.  
Compassionate, dignified care plays a critical part in strong communities, 
helping people to stay healthy and independent for longer.   A Healthier 
Wales: our Plan for Health and Social Care is the blueprint for a system where 
support and treatment is available across a range of community-based 
services, whilst at the same time ensuring that when hospital based care is 
needed, it can be accessed more quickly.   
 
In the outline draft budget we announced £192 million additional funding for to 
support the implementation of A Healthier Wales and the integration of 
services.  This included £30 million targeted investment for social care and 
£30 million for regional partnership boards – which includes joint decision-
making with local government – to drive transformation of local services.  The 
Partnership Boards are using £15 million to progress our shared ambition of 
reducing the need for children to be in care.  The remaining £15 million will be 
used to help increase joint working between local authorities and health 
boards to support adults with care needs in their homes, avoiding 
unnecessary hospital admissions, or ensuring they can return as soon as 
possible after hospital admission. 
 
The draft budget also again provides £50 million in revenue funding for the 
Integrated Care Fund.  This fund supports a range of integrated care services 
and is managed jointly by local authorities and health boards. 
 
In addition we are providing £20 million through the revenue support grant to 
Local Authorities in recognition of the important role local authorities play in 
delivering core social services and the preventative approach at the heart of 
delivery. This funding is in addition to the commitment made in the 2018-19 
budget to prioritise funding for social care through the 2018-19 and 2019-20 
settlements. 
 
Tax is a new policy lever for us and presents a range of opportunities to 
potentially resolve strategic challenges.  This is particularly the case for the 
work we are undertaking on raising additional funding for social care for the 
longer term – especially in the context of the demands presented by an 
ageing population.  The Welsh Government welcomes the independent report 
by Professor Gerald Holtham, which provides an indicative economic analysis 
of his idea for a system of enhanced social insurance that could help fund 
social care for older people in Wales.  The then First Minister established the 
Inter-Ministerial Group on Paying for Social Care to take forward consideration 

Pack Page 24



 9 

of a potential social care levy to provide additional future funding for social 
care in the future – initially Chaired by the Minister for Children, Older People 
and Social Care.  Now this group is Chaired by me as Minister for Health and 
Social Services. Work will continue to support the Inter-Ministerial Group’s 
considerations over the next year or so. 
 
An important role of regional partnership boards is making the best use of 
resources.  For that reason, from April of this year, boards were required to 
establish regional pooled funds to meet the needs of older peoples’ care 
home accommodation costs.  The purpose of this pooled fund is to support 
more integrated and collaborative commissioning arrangements. 
 
This represents a radical shift in the way older people’s care is commissioned.  
No longer will partners separately commission care.  Instead, a health board 
and all the local authorities within that health board’s area will now 
strategically commission care together.  This will result in much greater value 
for money and deliver better well-being outcomes for older people. 
 
Sport  
View 106: We believe that the Minister for Culture, Tourism and Sport, who 

has responsibility for national strategy and policy for community sport and 
physical activity in Wales, has a clear role in pushing this agenda, and we 
request further information about the specific actions his department will take 
to ensure that public assets such as schools are opened up in order to 
increase access to sport and physical activity opportunities for local 
communities  
 
Welsh Government Response 

May we clarify, the responsibility for community access to schools’ facilities 
including schools’ sports facilities rests with the Minister for Education as do 
the Prosperity for All commitments to introduce Community Learning Centres 
which provide extended services with childcare, parenting support, family 
learning and community access to facilities built around the school day and 
the creation of community hubs. 
The Minister for Education is actively taking this work forward through a cross-
Departmental Community Learning Hubs Task and Finish Group. The Welsh 
Government’s Sport Policy Branch and Sport Wales have been actively 
engaged in this Group and continue to work very closely with their colleagues 
in the Education Department to provide advice and support about community 
use of school sports facilities.   
We were very pleased to learn that £15 million has been made available for 
this work and that local authorities and Further Education Institutions have 
recently been invited to submit Expression of Interest for a Community 
Learning Centres/Community Hubs Capital Grant Programme which will 
enable schools and colleges to use capital investment to facilitate the 
community use of educational assets.  
Sports Policy and Sport Wales will continue to be involved in the work of the 
Group including where a grant application is received in respect of a sports 
facility.  Sport Wales is of course well placed to advise on the sporting 

Pack Page 25



 10 

landscape in an area so as to avoid duplication of provision and can also 
provide technical advice on a sports facility. 
 
Equal Access to Sport  
View 113.  We note the Minister’s assurance that addressing the disparities in 
participation in sport and physical activity between different population groups 
is a Welsh Government priority, and a requirement of the funding provided to 
Sport Wales. We would like to see more explicit reference to this in future 
Sport Wales remit letters.  
 

Welsh Government Response 
The remit letter sent to Sport Wales in February 2018 sets out the priorities for 
the three-year period 2018 to 20211.  They are set in the context of “Taking 
Wales Forward” and “Prosperity for All” and are informed by our well-being 
objectives.   
Within their remit letter, I, as Deputy Minister for Culture, Sport and Tourism,  
have set out the objectives we expect to guide the work and budget 
dissemination of Sport Wales.  These clearly state encouraging and facilitating 
opportunities for more people to be active at every stage of their lives, and 
investing effort and resources where there is significant variation in 
participation and where there is a lack of opportunity or aspiration to be active. 
Evidence of this commitment can be seen from the examples below. 
Equality of access is a key priority for funding decisions.  Sport Wales 
undertakes an equality impact assessment on its overall budget.  Sport Wales 
has also developed specific funding initiatives, such as BME Sport Cymru; 
Street Games and Disability Sport Wales, with the primary purpose of making 
accelerated progress to improve equality of access. 
Progress is measured through the relevant questions in the National Survey 
for Wales and also through project specific evaluation that is a requirement of 
grant funding by Sport Wales.  Each partner organisation that is funded on an 
annual basis is required to detail proposals on how they intend to tackle 
inequality. 
Some examples of where Sport Wales has invested to help create 
opportunities for under-represented groups include:  
Disability Sport Wales has in the region of 23,000 club members and provide 
over 1 million sport participation opportunities each year.   
BME Sport Cymru is a two-year Sport Wales funded project with investment of 
£538,339 which aims to take a sustainable approach to increasing BME 
participation in sport across Wales.  Across Wales, the project has engaged 
with over 2800 individuals in regular sport or physical activities. 
For 2018-19, Sport Wales has provided StreetGames Wales with investment 
of £173,000 which has helped establish 70 Doorstep Sports Clubs (DSCs) 
across Wales.  
In terms of women and girls, the FAW Trust latest figures show that there are 
6,020 under 16s participating and 1,982 adults. 
I can confirm that with regard to the future Strategy being developed by Sport 
Wales, addressing disparities in participation in sport and related physical 

                                                

1 https://gov.wales/docs/drah/publications/180226-sport-wales-remit-letter-2018-21-en.pdf 

Pack Page 26

https://gov.wales/docs/drah/publications/180226-sport-wales-remit-letter-2018-21-en.pdf


 11 

activity between different population groups will continue to be a priority.  For 
reference, the following was agreed by Board at its last meeting. 
 
OUR STRATEGIC INTENT 
To be person-centred: to cultivate environments where the needs and 
motivations of the individual lead the delivery, whether you are just starting 
out, progressing or striving for excellence on the world stage.  
To give every young person a great start: to ensure every young person 

has the skills, confidence and motivation to enable them to enjoy sport and 
has the foundations to lead an active, healthy and enriched life.  
To ensure sport is open to everyone: to ensure every local community has 
a wide variety of recreational, informal and competitive sporting opportunities 
that are well publicised, accessible and affordable.  Taking positive action to 
ensure that everyone can achieve their potential whatever their level of ability 
or motivation, background, gender, ethnicity or other personal circumstances.  
To be in this for the long-term: develop a collaborative, sustainable and 

successful sports sector, which is led by collective insight and learning.  To 
consider future trends and future thinking to inform our work.  
To be a respected and valued partner: to be an exemplary public sector 
organisation that delivers a valued service, knowing and understanding our 
customer’s needs and to evidence the power of sport and celebrate its 
collective success.  
While we will not be sending a new remit letter to Sport Wales until February 
2021, we will be sending formal confirmation of the budget for 2019-20 and 
will re-iterate these key aspects of future direction.  In addition, I, as Deputy 
Minister for Culture, Tourism and Sport have regular discussions with the 
Chief Executive and the Chair of Sport Wales and will continue to raise these 
points with them when we talk. 
 

View 114: We are disappointed at the findings of Sport Wales’ School Sport 
Survey State of the Nation 2018 report, which was published in the week after 
our draft budget scrutiny session with the Minister for Culture, Tourism and 
Sport. The survey report showed that participation levels amongst pupils in 
Wales have not increased from those observed in 2015. Additionally, it found 
that long-standing differences in participation levels continue to be seen, with 
female pupils and older pupils taking part less frequently in PE and sport. 
Worryingly, the difference in participation rates between the least deprived 
and most deprived has increased. 
View 115: We are concerned that Sport Wales’ own findings conflict 

somewhat with the more positive picture painted by the Minister when giving 
evidence to our Committee.  
 
Welsh Government Response 
I, as Deputy Minister have responded separately to this enquiry. 
 
View 116: We would be keen to receive further, detailed information from the 

Welsh Government which demonstrates the impact of spend on participation 
levels among different groups, and sets out how this impact is monitored and 
used to inform funding decisions. This should include reference to sex, age, 
disability, ethnicity, and socio-economic status. 

Pack Page 27



 12 

 
Welsh Government Response 

Evidence was provided previously on the range of data collected and utilised 
in order to monitor progress and guide future funding decisions. 
The following information presents a summary of the results of the last three 
School Sports Survey cycles disaggregated by sex, age, disability, ethnicity, 
and socio-economic status in terms of participation in sport three or more 
times a week. 
The figures show a stable picture overall, but with notable progress made 
within the least represented and traditionally least engaged groups.  An 
important change since 2013 is the reduced gender gap in participation, from 
8 to 4 percentage points.  In 2018, 48% of pupils across Years 3 to 11 took 
part in organised sport activity outside of the curriculum (i.e. extracurricular or 
club sport) on three or more occasions per week.  This figure has grown from 
40% since 2013.   
One concern revealed by the data is the apparent growing gap among socio-
economic groups.  42% of those in the most deprived areas (as measured by 
free school meal data) participate three or more times a week, while it is 55% 
for those in the least deprived communities.  The gap widened by 2-
percentage points since 2015.  There is also a disparity in how many minutes 
of PE those groups do.  104 (least deprived) to 92 (most deprived).   
Clearly, the picture presented by this evidence shows much more needs to be 
done.  But it also shows that progress it being made.  Sport Wales will 
continue to use this data to inform future funding decisions and to review and 
evaluate previous projects to identify the most effective approaches to tackling 
the challenges. 
 
Data from Sport Wales’ School Sport Survey 2018 

 

Ethnic Groups 2013 2015 2018 

White 41 49 49 

Mixed Race 41 52 52 

Black/Black British 37 52 51 

Asian/Asian British 29 36 40 

Arab/Other 29 39 46 

Overall 40 48 48 

 

 

Disability 2013 2015 2018 

Disability / Impairment 31 40 47 

Without Disability / Impairment 41 49 48 

Overall 40 48 48 

Pack Page 28



 13 

 

Sector 2013 2015 2018 

Primary Pupils 40 49 47 

Secondary Pupils 40 48 48 

Overall 40 48 48 

 

Gender 2013 2015 2018 

Female 36 44 46 

Male 44 52 50 

Gender Gap 8 8 4 

Overall 40 48 48 

 

Socioeconomic Status 

 

 
View 121: Soft drinks industry level 

We are disappointed that the Welsh Government has not chosen to earmark 
the consequential funding it receives from the soft drinks industry levy for 
tackling obesity and improving levels of physical activity, and we understand 
that Wales is the only UK nation that has not taken this approach. This is, in 
our view, a missed opportunity. We urge the Welsh Government to reconsider 
its position on this, and ensure funding from the levy is utilised to increase 
physical activity and reduce the burden of obesity in Wales. We welcome the 
Minister’s indication that he will personally raise this issue with Government 
colleagues and we look forward to receiving an update.  
Welsh Government Response 

Alongside the introduction of the soft drinks industry levy, the UK Government 
increased expenditure in a number of areas in England in the March 2016 
Budget relating to extending the school day, school sports and breakfast 
clubs.  As a result of these spending measures, Wales received £57 million 
over the four-year period for which we had a revenue settlement (2016-17 to 
2019-20).  It is an important principle of devolution that funding we receive as 

34
29

24 25

46
41 39

35

54
49 46 43

55
49

44 42

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

FSM1 FSM2 FSM3 FSM4

2011 2013 2015 2018

Pack Page 29



 14 

a result of spending measures announced in England is not ring-fenced for 
specific purposes.  In line with established practice, the funding we received 
was added to our reserves and allocated in subsequent budgets in line with 
our strategic priorities, including promoting good health and well-being for 
everyone.  We do not have a settlement beyond the current budget period.  
Decisions on the allocation of resources in subsequent years will be made in 
future budgets in line with our priorities. 
 
We are continuing to invest in a range of health and educational activities to 
improve outcomes for children in Wales.  Later this month, we will be 
launching a consultation on ‘Healthy Weight: Healthy Wales’ which will 
consider a range of proposals to tackle childhood obesity.  A final strategy will 
be launched by October 2019 through a commitment within our Public Health 
Wales Act to prevent and reduce obesity across Wales. 
 
Sustainability of funding for sport and physical activity in Wales 
View 126:  We have serious concerns about the sustainability of funding for 
sport in Wales. We believe that the combined impact of local government 
budget constraints, reductions in lottery funding, and the loss of European 
funding following the UK’s withdrawal from the EU will result in reduced 
access to sport and physical activity opportunities in Wales. This will seriously 
undermine the preventative agenda, and will have long-term implications for 
the health and wellbeing of the Welsh population. It is not acceptable that the 
Welsh Government has no clear plan in place to mitigate against this, and we 
seek further information from the Welsh Government about how it intends to 
ensure the long-term sustainability of funding for sport and physical activity in 
Wales.  
 

Welsh Government Response 

We share the concerns raised by the Committee.  In my evidence, I, as 
Deputy Minister for Culture, Sport and Tourism was very clear about the 
challenges with which we are faced and highlighted the approach we have 
now embedded of increased collaboration and shared use of budgets across 
a range of sectors, health, education, transport as well as sport.   
A key example of this is the new Sport North Wales model for the delivery of 
community sport through the establishment of new regional entities.  The new 
entity includes a range of partners including local authorities, local health 
board (Betsi Cadwaladr), Glyndwr and Bangor Universities, Regional Housing 
Association, Public Health Wales and Disability Sport Wales.  By working in 
this way funding from a range of sectors can be pooled and efficiencies made 
through reductions and simplification of grants project contracts. 
Sport Wales anticipates that, following analysis of the success of the 
collaboration in the north, the engagement phase for the procurement process 
for other regions will commence early in 2019. 
There is also the Healthy and Active Fund.  This is intended as a long-term 
collaboration between Sport and Health and our three arm’s-length bodies: 
Sport Wales, Public Health Wales and Natural Resources Wales.  
We launched the Healthy and Active Fund (HAF) in July last year..  The first 
phase investment will focus on improving improving mental and physical 
health by enabling healthy and active lifestyles, with a particular focus on 

Pack Page 30



 15 

strengthening community assets.  Applicants will be encouraged to develop 
solutions that take advantage of collaboration, existing community assets 
such as clubs, schools and workplaces, and new technology.  The 
development and delivery of the new Fund is a partnership between Welsh 
Government, Sport Wales and Public Health Wales.  It places the five ways of 
working at the core of its design, delivery, monitoring and evaluation.  The 
budget of £5 million has been allocated over the next three years and is 
funded 50% from Public Health and 50% from Sport Wales.  This is a very 
good example of pooling budgets and working together across Departments. 
It is our intention to pursue this way of working as looking to pool budgets is a 
sustainable way of working effectively in these difficult financial times. 
Since the Committee we have also been able to secure a £5 million capital 
commitment to Sport Wales in 2018-19 with the specific remit of investing in a 
range of sports facilities across Wales.  Possible schemes have been 
identified based on geographic spread, a preference for multi-sport use from a 
single facility, ability to get underway quickly and commitment of funding from 
the collaborating partners.  Priority is being given in this first phase to projects 
that reduce inequalities in outcomes for children and young people, people 
with a disability or long-term illness, people who are economically inactive or 
live in areas of deprivation, and older people and those around the ages of 
retirement from work.  Final short-listing is underway.   
We should like to add that while the Welsh Government has protected local 
government from the worst of the reductions in public funding in recent years, 
we are aware that local authorities are dealing with funding challenges and 
are facing some difficult decisions regarding the services they provide.  
However, despite these reductions, all local authorities in Wales still receive 
substantial financial support from the Welsh Government, which is provided 
as general funding, allowing authorities the freedom to prioritise their 
resources in line with the needs of their communities.  In addition to meeting 
their statutory requirements, local authorities also have a responsibility to 
deliver non-statutory services which focus on the needs and wellbeing of local 
communities such as sport and leisure facilities. 
View 127: We believe the Welsh Government must take a strong stance in its 
dealings with Camelot to ensure that Wales does not lose out on lottery 
funding, which makes a significant contribution to funding for sport in Wales. 
We look forward to receiving an update from the Minister about his 
discussions with Camelot. 
 
 
Welsh Government Response 

In November, I, as then Minister for Culture, Tourism and Sport and the lottery 
distributors in Wales met in Cardiff with Nigel Railton, the Chief Executive of 

Camelot.  I had an opportunity to outline the crucial role of the National Lottery 
in supporting projects throughout Wales and the difference it has made to the 
lives of people across Wales.  We are now approaching the 25th anniversary 
of the National Lottery during which time it has had a transformational effect 
on funding of Arts, Sport, Heritage and a wide array of charitable causes and 
community projects. 
I stressed the need for Camelot to strengthen the link between playing and 
good causes.  Despite some encouraging trends in recent months, good 

Pack Page 31



 16 

cause income has declined significantly during recent years and sales remain 
fragile.  Lottery distributors have, as a consequence, been forced to reduce 
budgets and have been forced to support fewer projects in the communities 
they serve.  I remain concerned that changes in the wider lottery market are 
having a sustained impact on good cause income and I have regularly raised 
this with the UK Government.  
Camelot UK Lotteries Limited holds the licence from the Gambling 
Commission to operate the National Lottery until January 2023.  At the recent 
UK Sport Cabinet board meeting in November a presentation was received 
from the Gambling Commission about the up-coming re-licensing of the 
National Lottery.  At the meeting, I pressed the case for the next license to put 
in place more rigorous terms and conditions that will ensure consistency of 
lottery funding towards sport in Wales. 
 
Longer term funding streams   
View 130: We note the concerns of stakeholders that one-year funding 

streams from Sport Wales makes strategic, long-term planning difficult, and 
we agree that funding which is only confirmed for the short-term can have a 
negative impact on the effectiveness and sustainability of projects.  
View 131: We acknowledge the Minister’s comments that this is in part due to 

the uncertainties around the funding it receives from HM Treasury. However, 
we would point out that there are inconsistencies around the duration of 
financial planning cycles in other public bodies in Wales. Health boards in 
Wales for example, operate to a three-year financial planning cycle. We would 
welcome further information from the Minister about any plans that the Welsh 
Government has to put in place longer-term funding arrangements to enable 
Sport Wales and its partners to plan more strategically.  
 
Welsh Government Response 
May we start by clarifying the three-year funding cycle position for Health 
Boards.   
The Local Health Boards and NHS Trusts have had a statutory duty since 
2014 to produce, each year, a three-year rolling plan over which they may 
choose to balance their financial expenditure.  They are provided each year 
with a single annual budget allocation in December and must provide an up-
dated plan by the end of the following January for agreement by the Cabinet 
Secretary.  Capital funding is a separate process.  The arm’s length body, 
Public Health Wales also operate under this arrangement. 
In terms of Sport Wales, we recognise the challenges that can be experienced 
by some stakeholders as a result of receiving awards only confirmed for one 
financial year and have been working for some time to implement mitigating 
processes.  For example, for the first time this year we were able to issue a 
three-year remit letter to Sport Wales (2018 to 2021) that will go some way to 
addressing the challenges outlined above.   
This work is in-line with the work of the Public Bodies Unit that is currently 
considering replacing annual remit arrangements across the Welsh 
Government with the aim of facilitating longer-term planning and providing 
greater stability for public bodies, as well improving efficiency and 
effectiveness of the oversight arrangements.  In this work it is the aim that firm 
funding allocations would be given for the first year, followed by indicative 

Pack Page 32



 17 

funding for the remaining years. It would be made clear that funding could 
decrease or increase according to Government priorities, changes to 
ministerial portfolios, budget fluctuations, or the raising of a concern over the 
efficiency and/or effectiveness of the public body.  
The then Cabinet Secretary for Finance stated in the budget documentation 
that he can only set a one-year revenue budget this year.  The UK 
Government will be carrying out a new Spending Review in 2019.  We do not 
know what impact this will have on the Welsh Government’s budget in the 
future. 
 
 

Pack Page 33


	Agenda
	2 General scrutiny: Evidence session with Health Education and Improvement Wales and Social Care Wales
	Paper 1 - Health Education and Improvement Wales and Social Care Wales

	3.1 Healthcare (International Arrangements) Bill: Letter from Minister for Health and Social Services to Minister of State for Health - 09 January 2019
	3.2 Welsh Government Draft Budget 2019-20: Welsh Government response



